FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/1/2018 3:11 PM

NO. __96476-9____

Court of Appeals No. 49932-1-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FOOD DEMOCRACY ACTION! and FOOD DEMOCRACY ACTION! YES ON I-522 COMMITTEE TO LABEL GMOs IN WASHINGTON

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ex rel., WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth S. Kagan, WSBA No. 12983

LAW OFFICE OF KENNETH S. KAGAN, PLLC

600 First Avenue, Suite 512 Seattle, Washington 98104-2253 (206) 264-1590

Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

Petitioners Food Democracy Action! ("Food Democracy") and Food Democracy Action! Yes on I-522 Committee to Label GMOs in Washington (the "Committee") are Defendants and Appellants below. Food Democracy is a small, Iowa-based organization dedicated to building a healthy and sustainable food system. Food Democracy registered the Committee in 2013 after it learned that it had inadvertently failed to comply with Washington campaign finance disclosure requirements.

II. DECISION BELOW

Food Democracy seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision rendered in *State ex rel. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Com'n v. Food Democracy Action!*, No. 49932-1-II (October 2, 2018), which affirmed the Thurston County Superior Court's grant of partial summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff Washington State Public Disclosure Commission. A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix at 1-15.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the decision below conflict with other published Court of Appeals decisions, which have held that a violation of RCW 42.17A.435 is distinct from reporting violations and must be supported by evidence of a party's specific intent to conceal the source of contributions or the recipient of expenditures?

- 2. Does the decision below involve an issue of substantial public interest, where its interpretation of the meaning of the term "concealment" in RCW 42.17A.435 would result in making political committees that inadvertently fail to submit reports liable for statutory violations beyond the mere failure to report and thereby potentially subject to additional, duplicative penalties?
- 3. Does the decision below involve a significant question of law under the United States and Washington Constitutions where, assuming the Court of Appeals' construction of RCW 42.17A.435 is correct, the availability of additional, duplicative penalties on a strict liability basis against inadvertent non-reporting political committees would drastically deter the exercise of constitutionally-protected speech and associational rights associated with electoral campaign activity?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013, Food Democracy was made aware of I-522, a Washington initiative to require labeling genetically-modified organisms in food, and decided that the Initiative aligned with its mission. Appx. at 2. In July, 2013, Food Democracy solicited donations to help pass I-522 in four email newsletters to its members. *Id.* It then directly contributed funds raised through these solicitations, totaling \$200,000, to the Yes on I-522 campaign, which reported these contributions in full. *Id.* Food Democracy

was unaware of the provisions of Washington's Fair Campaign Practice Act (FCPA), which required it to immediately register as a political committee and to report its contributions and expenditures to the Public Disclosure Commission (PDC). *Id.* at 2. Indeed, it had no prior familiarity with Washington's campaign finance laws whatsoever. *Id.*¹

Once it became aware of its noncompliance with the FCPA's registration and reporting requirements, Food Democracy admitted full responsibility and promptly hired Washington counsel to help it comply with its obligations. *Id.* at 3. Thereafter, it registered the Committee, filed contribution and expenditure reports, and cooperated with a PDC investigation into its reporting and registration failures. *Id.* at 4.

On December 16, 2014, the State of Washington, through the PDC, filed a complaint in Thurston County Superior Court, alleging that Food Democracy violated the FCPA not only by failing to timely register as a political committee and file disclosure reports, but also by concealing the identity of the individuals who made contributions through it to the Yes on I-522 campaign. *Id.* at 4; CP 5. In its Answer, Food Democracy admitted the registration and reporting violations but denied the concealment allegations. *Id.* at 4; CP 10.

¹ The Treasurer for the Yes on I-522 Committee, responsible for compliance with PDC requirements, was Philip Lloyd, who, perhaps not coincidentally, also has served as the Treasurer for the election campaigns of Attorney General Robert Ferguson.

The PDC moved for partial summary judgment, which the Superior Court granted. *Id.* at 4; CP 40. A trial on damages followed, in which Food Democracy did not appear. *Id.* at 5. At no point prior to or at trial did the Superior Court find that Food Democracy's violations were knowing or intentional, and the PDC abandoned that allegation. *Id.* The trial court entered judgment against Food Democracy and assessed a penalty of \$319,281.58 against it. *Id.* at 5; CP 67. Food Democracy appealed that judgment, which the Court of Appeals affirmed in the decision below.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

The Court should accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Review is warranted under 13.4(b)(2) because the decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in *State ex rel. WA. State Pub. Disclosure Com'n v. Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. 277, 150 P.3d 568 (2006), *rev. denied*, 162 Wn.2d 1003, 175 P.3d 1092 (2007). *Permanent Offense* demonstrates that concealment and failure to report are conceptually distinct FCPA violations, and that to prove the latter, a plaintiff must adduce sufficient evidence of a defendant's specific intent to conceal the source of contributions or recipient of expenditures. The approach in *Permanent Offense* is supported

by the statute's plain language, its structure and legislative history, as well as the doctrine of constitutional avoidance.

Review is also warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The holding in the decision below broadly affects all actual and putative political committees. If, as the Court of Appeals found, every failure to report is – regardless of intent – also an act of "concealment," then almost all cases currently pending before the PDC potentially involve unlawful concealment which may be punished by the imposition of additional penalties, even though the vast majority of cases involve inadvertent, belatedly-filed reports. Further, organizations that in good faith do not consider themselves political committees may suddenly find themselves at risk of being penalized vast sums of money should the PDC determine that these honest suppositions were wrong.

Finally, this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the case involves a significant question of law under the United States and Washington Constitutions. If this Court abides the interpretation of RCW 42.17A.435 offered in the decision below, multiple, duplicative penalties will become available to punish reporting violations without inquiring into a committee's knowledge or motive – i.e., on a strict liability basis. That outcome will deter citizens from exercising their constitutional

right to associate with political committees and engage in the protected speech of soliciting political contributions. Committees will instead forgo engaging in such activities out of fear of incurring draconian monetary penalties that would result from unwittingly forgetting to submit disclosure reports. A chilling effect of this magnitude constitutes an impermissible restriction on First Amendment and Article 5 rights.

B. The Decision Conflicts with a Published Court of Appeals Decision.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. At issue is the proper construction of RCW 42.17A.435, which provides that:

No contribution shall be made and no expenditure shall be incurred, directly or indirectly, in a fictitious name, anonymously, or by one person through an agent, relative, or other person in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of the contribution or in any other manner so as to effect concealment.

The decision below held that this provision "does not require [that] concealment be intentional or knowing" in order to find a violation thereof. Appx. at 8.

Conversely, in *Permanent Offense*, the Court of Appeals upheld a trial court's determination following a bench trial that the defendant

violated the same provision,² but only because the PDC introduced sufficient evidence that the defendant had a "specific intent to conceal" and took steps to "implement her scheme." *Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. at 289. The PDC proved that the defendant, the treasurer of a political committee, coordinated with another committee member to compensate the latter for his campaign work by forming a sham corporation, which would nominally provide campaign services to the committee. *Id.* at 280, 289. Although the treasurer defendant reported the monthly payments to the corporation, she did not disclose (a) that her co-conspirator was the recipient of these fees; (b) that she served as the corporation's secretary and generated the invoices billed to the committee; or (c) that those invoices were prearranged to satisfy her co-conspirator's desired salary, and bore no relation to his actual services rendered. *Id.*

This evidence "established" that the treasurer defendant "acted in a deliberate manner so as to effect concealment," making the trial court's finding reasonable. *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).³ Intent was

² Permanent Offense technically involved an earlier version of the provision, then codified at RCW 42.17.120, but which was identical to the version at issue here in content. Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277 at 288.

³ Not only did *Permanent Offense* consider the meaning of the term "concealment" under RCW 42.17A.435, it did so specifically with respect to that word's usage in the provision's terminal clause – "or in any other manner so as to effect concealment" – the very same clause italicized and relied upon by the court below in deciding that the provision contained no intentional requirement. *Compare* No. 49932-1-II, Slip Opinion at 7 with Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277 at 288-89. The immediate prompt in Permanent Offense for examining this clause was to rebut the defendant's theory that the statute prohibited

critical to the trial court's finding, and in turn to the appellate court's affirmance, because without more, "using a corporate structure to provide services to the PAC was not itself a violation of the law." *Id.* at 289. Moreover, the Court of Appeals evaluated the trial court's conclusion that the defendant violated statutory reporting obligations, then codified at RCW 42.17.080 and 42.17.090, separately from the concealment question. *Id.* at 289-92. The court affirmed that finding without investigating the defendant's subjective motivations. *Id. Permanent Offense*'s distinct treatment of concealment and failure to submit disclosure reports further demonstrates that the two kinds of violations are not interchangeable.

Although *Permanent Offense* did not state expressly that a deceptive intent is a necessary feature of "concealment" under RCW 42.17A.435, that implication is inescapable in light of the appellate court's reasoning on the sufficiency of the evidence. Nonetheless, the court below failed to address this aspect of *Permanent Offense*, leaving the tension between the two decisions unresolved.

The need to reconcile these opinions is amplified by the fact that Permanent Offense's focus on intent is more consistent with the provision's

concealing the source of contributions, but not the ultimate recipient of expenditures. *Id.* at 288. Once it determined that this clause covered concealing such recipients, the court turned to whether the evidence supported concealment under the "any other manner" clause. *Id.* at 289.

plain meaning, statutory history, and structure, and the canon of constitutional avoidance. First, a fair reading of RCW 42.17A.435's text shows that a purposive connotation unambiguously attaches to the statutory meaning of "concealment."

The ordinary and legal definitions of the words "conceal" and "concealment" use descriptors that either demand or strongly imply a deliberate effort to prevent disclosure. See Concealment, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (10th ed. 2014) ("1. The act of preventing disclosure or refraining from disclosing; esp., the injurious or intentional suppression or nondisclosure of facts that one is obliged to reveal; cover-up. 2. The act of removing from sight or notice; hiding") (emphasis added); Conceal, WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY (1981) ("1. to prevent disclosure or recognition of; avoid revelation of; refrain from revealing; withhold knowledge of..."); Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 160 cmt. a (1979) ("Concealment is an affirmative act intended or known to be likely to keep another from learning of a fact of which he would otherwise have learned. Such affirmative action is always equivalent to a misrepresentation and has any effect that a misrepresentation would have") (emphasis added).

⁴ "Where the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, the statute's plain meaning should be enforced." *Little Mountain Estates Tenants Ass'n v. Little Mountain Estates MHC LLC*, 169 Wn.2d 265, 268, 236 P.3d 193 (2010).

The relationship between the term "concealment" and the provision as a whole also confirms this reading. RCW 42.17A.435 is divided into two clauses, the first of which bars making contributions or incurring expenditures through specific devices "in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of the contribution." RCW 42.17A.435. The prohibited devices include using a "fictitious name," donating "anonymously," or using a pass-through entity, such as "an agent, relative, or other person." *Id.* Neither the PDC nor the court below suggests that Food Democracy's omissions fell within the ambit of this clause.

The second clause, framed in the alternative, bars making contributions or incurring expenditures "in any other manner so as to effect concealment." *Id.*⁵ The court below held that Food Democracy's inaction was covered by this clause. Appx. at 7-8. But as the dissenting judge recognized, the second clause "bars contributions and expenditures that are made or incurred in a specific manner: a manner that conceals the identity of their source or effects concealment in other ways." *Id.* at 13 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting). To do something in a particular "manner" means to engage in a certain "mode" or "method." *Id.* (quoting Webster's Third New

⁵ Although application of the last antecedent rule would require reading the terminal clause to modify the "manner" of using the specific prohibited devices, for reasons discussed *infra*, it is clear that the drafters intended the terminal clause to expand through a catch-all clause the *categories* of prohibited devices, not the prohibited *manners* of using the devices already enumerated in the first clause.

INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1376 (2002)). To engage in a "mode" or "method" of concealment requires a plan of action to effect that end – in other words, an *intent* to conceal. Thus, even if a purposive connotation did not inhere in the term "conceal" – which it does – its modification through the word "manner" demands a finding of intent.

Furthermore, the terminal clause's prohibition must be read in the context of the specific devices prohibited in the preceding clause. Applying the canon of *ejusdem generis*,⁶ the "other manners of concealment" implied in the catchall must be similar in scope to the specific devices contained in the first clause. Each of those devices entails a deliberate effort to mask the source or recipient of campaign contributions by identifying someone other than the true source or recipient. The catchall clause merely extends the prohibition to all conceivable permutations of such disguises.

The Act's legislative history confirms this. The original version of the predecessor to RCW 42.17A.435 contained only the first clause. *See* Laws of 1973, Ch. 1, §12 (Initiative Measure No. 276). When the Legislature amended the FCPA in 1975, the House Report explained why that body felt it necessary to add the second clause:

⁶ Ejusdem generis commands that "general terms appearing in a statute in connection with specific terms are to be given meaning and effect only to the extent that the general terms suggest similar items to those designated by the specific terms." Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 159 Wn.2d 868, 882, 154 P.3d 891 (2007).

[The] [p]resent law's prohibition against concealing the identity of the source of a contribution seems to be limited to concealment only by way of making a contribution or incurring an expenditure, directly or indirectly, in a fictitious name, anonymously, or by one person through an agent, relative or other person. By implication, concealment effected in any other manner is not prohibited – a situation which runs counter to the law's intention to require full disclosure of political campaign contributions and to avoid secrecy. Solution: The bill specifies that contributions may not be made and expenditures may not be incurred in any manner so as to effect concealment of the identity of the source of the contribution.

HOUSE COMM. ON CONSTITUTION AND ELECTIONS, 44TH LEG., S.H.B. 827 (Wash. March 24, 1975) (emphasis added); Appx. at 37; see also HOUSE COMM. ON CONSTITUTION AND ELECTIONS, 44TH LEG., S.H.B. 827 (Wash. March 25, 1975) ("Section 6: Clarifies the law's intention to prohibit concealing the source of any contribution in required reports.") (emphasis added); Appx. at 47.

The House documents reveal in no uncertain terms that the Legislature viewed the provision in question to create liability specifically for persons who conceal "the identity of the source of [a] contribution," not for those who merely forget to submit reports in general, or are unaware that

⁷ It is true, as discussed in n.2, *supra*, that case law has expanded the prohibition to capture concealment of the recipient of an expenditure, as well as the source of a contribution. That clarification merely creates symmetry between the beginning of the first clause (which clearly contemplates both) and the end of the second clause (which facially discusses only the "source of contributions"). But that obvious clarification is very different from expanding the meaning of "concealment" to encompass acts or omissions that do not actively disguise a person's identity.

such a duty exists. The Legislature believed that by adding the catchall clause, it was closing a loophole that impliedly permitted disguising a contribution's source in a manner that had not been expressly enumerated. The Legislature, however, did not intend to extend the definition to include the inadvertent failure to submit disclosure reports.

The interpretation in the decision below also upsets FCPA's overall structure by creating an unnecessary redundancy. Washington observes "the rule against surplusage, which requires [courts] to avoid interpretations of a statute that would render superfluous a provision of the statute." *Veit, ex rel. Nelson v. Burlington N. Santa Fe Corp.*, 171 Wn.2d 88, 113, 249 P.3d 607 (2011).

The decision in the instant case does precisely that, however, by reading into RCW 42.17A.435 a generic bar on failing to submit reports when such a prohibition already exists in two other provisions of the FCPA – RCW 42.17A.245 (requiring candidates and committees to file electronic reports for contributions and expenditures) and RCW 42.17A.305 (requiring same for payments related to "electioneering communications"). Both of those provisions expressly make it a "violation of this chapter" for a candidate or committee to fail "to comply with this section." RCW 42.17A.245(5); RCW 42.17A.305(2). Those statements would be utterly superfluous if RCW 42.17A.435 already proscribed failing to submit

required reports. There are independent indicators in the statute's design which suggest that the controlling prohibitions reside in RCW 42.17A.245 and RCW 42.17A.305.

Both of those provisions describe the reporting requirements for activities regulated in the subchapter to which the provision is attached – fundraising in the case of RCW.17A.245, *see* RCW 42.17A.200, et. seq., and political advertising and electioneering communications in the case of RCW 42.17A.305, *see* RCW 42.17A.300, et seq. In contrast, RCW 42.17A.435 is located in a subchapter on "campaign contribution limits and other restrictions." *See* RCW 42.17A.400, et seq.

All of the other provisions in that subchapter regulate activities other than the basic reporting requirements, which may constitute additional bases for FCPA liability. It would be odd indeed if the law was construed to contain two prohibitions on failing to submit reports, each organically connected to the subchapter describing the relevant activity to be reported, *plus* a separate provision in an unrelated subchapter that circles back and reaffirms *sub silentio* the same prohibitions set forth in the first two provisions.⁸

⁸ The Court of Appeals below reasoned that the statute's structure and underlying policies support the court's expansive construction of the term "concealment." With respect, the court's rationale is circular. The decision states that RCW 42.17A.435 "contains no exception for unintentional conduct...." Appx. at 7. But this position assumes that the term "concealment" does not, by its very definition, exclude unintentional conduct, which is the

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