FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/15/2019 11:25 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96476-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ex rel., WASHINGTON STATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION,

Respondent,

V

FOOD DEMOCRACY ACTION! and FOOD DEMOCRACY ACTION! YES ON I-522 COMMITTEE TO LABEL GMOs IN WASHINGTON,

Petitioners.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO FOOD DEMOCRACY ACTION!, ET AL.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LINDA A. DALTON, WSBA No. 15467 Senior Assistant Attorney General

S. TODD SIPE, WSBA No. 23203 Assistant Attorney General

Office ID 91151 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 753-6200

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of RCW 42.17A.435 Is Consistent with Its Prior Published Decisions and Upholds the Plain Language of the Statute

The Court of Appeals' decision to affirm the trial court's summary judgment on the State's concealment claim is in accord with its prior

⁴ FDA's appellate brief also briefly referenced free speech, which the Court of Appeals addressed in a footnote. *See* FDA's Opening Brief at 30; *FDA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 552 n.9.

published decisions interpreting RCW 42.17A.435 and upholds the plain language of that statute.

1. No conflict exists between the FDA decision and any other appellate decision

RCW 42.17A.435 has never been restricted to instances in which a showing of a specific intent to conceal exists. The plain language of RCW 42.17A.435 does not support such an interpretation.

FDA contends the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case stands in conflicts with *State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. 277, 150 P.3d 568 (2006), *rev. denied*, 162 Wn.2d 1003, 175 P.3d 1092 (2007). Pet. at 6-7. FDA, however, concedes that the Court of Appeals in *Permanent Offense* never in fact stated that concealment requires deceptive intent. Pet. at 8. FDA's concession is accurate. The Court of Appeals neither found nor implied an intentionality restriction for RCW 42.17A.435 violations. *Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. at 288-89. Rather, it reaffirmed that courts should read RCW 42.17A.435 broadly to uphold the statute's purpose of promoting integrity and transparency in elections. *Id*.

In *Permanent Offense*, the State brought claims against the officers of a political committee who formed a for-profit corporation as a conduit to receive contributed funds in a manner that concealed the ultimate recipient

of the committee expenditures. *Id.* at 280. In finding the officers liable under former RCW 42.17.120 (re-codified in 2010 as RCW 42.17A.435), the Court of Appeals did not require proof of intent. *Id.* at 289. While the officers were found to have acted in an intentional manner, the Court relied upon the statutory provision's "broad" language prohibiting persons from acting in "any" manner " 'so as to effect concealment,' especially considering the stated policy of interpreting the statute liberally." *Id.* at 288-89. ("[T]he State has a substantial interest in promoting integrity and preventing concealment that could harm the public and mislead voters." *Id.* at 284). Thus, the *Permanent Offense* decision stands for the proposition that the concealment statute must be construed broadly, directly contradicting the restrictive reading of that statute that FDA seeks.

The Court of Appeals' ruling in this case is also consistent with its recent decision in *State v. Grocery Manufacturers Association*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 169, 425 P.3d 927 (2018), a decision FDA fails to mention in its petition. In *Grocery Manufacturers Association*, the Court of Appeals confirmed that RCW 42.17A.435 should be "broadly interpreted to cover concealment of any manner" and affirmed the application of the concealment statute to a similarly structured scheme. *Id.* at 206. At no point, did the Court of Appeals suggest that RCW 42.17A.435 required any form of specific intent. *Id.*

Because there is no conflict with any appellate decision interpreting

RCW 42.17A.435, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision upholds the plain language of RCW 42.17A.435

Contrary to FDA's contention, RCW 42.17A.435 contains no restriction limiting its coverage to intentional misconduct, but rather expressly encompasses actions that *effect concealment* of the "identity of the source of the contribution." Pet. at 9. Here, the "effect" of FDA's misconduct was to conceal the identities of the true sources of its contributions to the Yes on I-522 committee—its members and supporters. Specifically, FDA solicited funds from its members and supporters and then disbursed those funds in its own name as if its members and supporters never existed.

If a statute's meaning is plain on its face, then a court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *In re Estate of Haviland*, 177 Wn.2d 68, 76, 301 P.3d 31 (2013). Plain meaning is "discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Tingey v. Haisch*, 159 Wn.2d 652, 657, 152 P.3d 1020 (2007). ⁵

⁵ Laws such as RCW 42.17A enacted through the initiative process are construed in the same manner. *See Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash.*, 182 Wn.2d 398, 410 n.3, 341 P.3d 953 (2015).

Here, the plain text of RCW 42.17A.435 contains no intentionality requirement; it only requires conduct that operates in a manner so as to "effect concealment." The FCPA does, however, recognize that some violations may be found to be intentional and makes those violations punishable through the trebling of a judgment pursuant to RCW 42.17A.765(5). "Statutes are to be read together, whenever possible, to achieve a 'harmonious total statutory scheme . . . which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes.' " *Am. Legion Post No. 149 v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 570, 588, 192 P.3d 306 (2008). Only by finding that no intent is required under RCW 42.17A.435 can one harmonize these two related statutory provisions. The FCPA's statutory scheme does not support FDA's novel claim that *all* violations of the statute are subject to treble damages. *See* Pet. at 15, n.8.

FDA's conduct falls within the plain language of RCW 42.17A.435. It did more than simply fail to timely file reports with the PDC. Its conduct included: (1) asking its members and supporters for money to support Initiative 522; (2) accepting money from its members and supporters for the express purpose of supporting Initiative 522; (3) making contributions to the Yes on I-522 committee using its own name instead of its members and supporters from whom it received the money; and (4) withholding the names of the true contributors within the time frames required under the

statute. The net effect of these acts was that the information was withheld from the public until after the 2013 election. CP 241-44. Only then did FDA finally file the required reports. CP 242 (FF 20). These acts, taken together, support the trial court's finding that FDA's conduct violated RCW 42.17A.435. This interpretation of RCW 42.17A.435 is wholly consistent with the statute's purpose of providing the public with all information about who contributed to a political campaign.

3. FDA's reliance on the dissenting opinion as grounds for granting review is misplaced

Relying on the use of the term "manner" and the examples provided in RCW 42.17A.435, the dissenting judge construed RCW 42.17A.435 to cover only concealment that results from "the circumstances of the transaction" and not "the failure to file subsequent reports." *FDA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 556 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting). However, this interpretation actually supports the trial court's ruling that FDA's conduct violated RCW 42.17A.435.

FDA's concealment was dependent on the circumstances of FDA's financial transactions. In particular, FDA solicited contributions from its members and supporters, then acted to hide their identities by taking the affirmative step of transferring those funds to the Yes on I-522 political committee in its *own* name. CP 149. By choosing to disburse the

contributions it solicited to the YES on I-522 committee in its own name, rather than in the names of its contributing members and supporters, FDA acted in a manner having the effect of concealment as defined by the statute. No other conclusion could be found.

Indeed the statute specifically prohibits the precise conduct FDA engaged in: arranging for a person's contribution to be made through another person in such manner to conceal the identity of the person making the contribution. RCW 42.17A.435. The trial court's judgment was not based solely on the late filing of reports, but also on the particular manner FDA employed to obtain and then disburse the contributions it received. CP 241 (FF 17-18). FDA's actions had the effect of concealing the identities of its members from the public. CP 244-45; RP I 22:19:22 ("That's the primary basis for my ruling is that listing the contributions in the name of FDA and not in the names of the 7,000 people was in a manner so as to effect concealment."). FDA's attempt to rely on the dissent is misplaced.

B. FDA's Substantial Public Interest Argument Relies on Unsupportable Speculation and the False Premise That Its Misconduct Was Limited to Its Failure to Timely File Reports

FDA again relies on the false premise that this case merely involves inadvertent late-filed reports in an attempt to fashion a substantial public interest argument. Pet. at 16. FDA claims that the trial court's judgment would mean that persons who "inadvertent[ly]" fail to timely register and

properly file reports with the PDC would find themselves at risk of being penalized "vast sums of money" for concealment. Pet. at 5, 16-18.

The record does not support this argument. As explained above, the trial court's findings went beyond filing late reports and included the manner in which FDA concealed its members and supporters from the public by disbursing those members and supporters' money in its own name. CP 241 (FF 17, 18). If FDA's disbursements had identified the true sources of the contributions, those members and supporters would have been publicly disclosed by the Yes on I-522 committee even if FDA failed to file its own reports with the PDC. This did not happen; as such, FDA was penalized for its misconduct.

Nothing in the record indicates that FDA was assessed "duplicative" or "compounding" penalties of "vast sums" based on concealment. Pet. at 16-18. The State's trial brief made clear the penalty it sought under RCW 42.17A.750(1), but FDA chose not to attend the trial or argue for a different outcome. Notwithstanding the State's penalty request, and despite the trial court's finding that FDA had not only filed late reports, but also violated the concealment statute, the trial court exercised its discretion under the statute to impose a civil penalty permitted by the late-filed reports alone. CP 245; RP V 54:19-55:22.

Even had the trial court enhanced the penalty assessed against FDA

for violating RCW 42.17A.435, the penalty would not have been duplicative because, as explained above, the misconduct underlying FDA's concealment violation extended beyond its failure to timely file reports with the PDC.

FDA has not articulated a viable basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Raise a Significant Question of Constitutional Law

In the Court of Appeals, FDA for the first time raised an argument under the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The Court of Appeals properly declined to address the merits of FDA's Eighth Amendment argument because FDA had not created a sufficient record in the trial court to allow review. *FDA*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 553. In its petition to this Court, FDA abandoned its Eighth Amendment argument, raising instead for the first time a First Amendment challenge to the assessed penalties. It too should be rejected.

1. FDA waived any constitutional challenge by failing to raise the issue in the trial court

FDA never argued to the trial court that the penalties assessed against it were unconstitutional. Accordingly, FDA's argument that the civil penalties are unconstitutional because they were duplicative or excessive has been waived. *See, e.g., Bour v. Johnson*, 80 Wn. App. 643, 650, 910

P.2d 548 (1996) (failure to raise defense in the trial court waived review in the appellate court); *Mangat v. Snohomish Cty.*, 176 Wn. App. 324, 334, 308 P.3d 786 (2013) (declining to consider arguments made for the first time on appeal that were not made to the trial court).

Nor can FDA invoke the narrow exception in RAP 2.5(a)(3), which applies only where there has been a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 601, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). To fall within this narrow exception, FDA must demonstrate that the error sought to be reviewed is "manifest." *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 344, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). An alleged error is manifest "only if it results in a concrete detriment to the claimant's constitutional rights, *and* the claimed error rests upon a plausible argument that is supported by the record." *WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d at 603. "To determine whether a newly claimed constitutional error is supported by a plausible argument, the court must preview the merits of the claimed constitutional error to see if the argument has a likelihood of succeeding." *Id.* at 603. "If the record from the trial court is insufficient to determine the merits of the constitutional claim, then the claimed error is not manifest" and review unwarranted. *Id.* at 602.

Because FDA declined to participate in the trial court proceedings to determine the appropriate penalties, the trial record includes no factual submissions or legal arguments from FDA regarding the penalties. There is no manifest error because the trial court record is insufficient to determine the merits of the constitutional claim.

Even if FDA had not waived its First Amendment argument, it relies on the same false or unsupported premises as its other arguments—that its misconduct was limited to "inadvertently" filing reports late with the PDC and that "duplicative penalties" were imposed against it on a "strict liability basis" for concealment. Pet. at 18-21. As explained above, the record does not support either of these assertions.

2. The Fair Campaign Practices Act comports with the United States and Washington Constitutions' free speech requirements

FDA's constitutional justification for seeking review has no legal merit. Pet. at 18-21. State and federal courts have repeatedly rejected similar challenges to the FCPA under the applicable "exacting scrutiny" test, concluding that the law's disclosure requirements have a substantial relationship with an important government interest in providing voters with information involved with initiatives. *See, e.g., Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. at 284; *Human Life of Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d 990, 1007 (9th Cir. 2010).

In both *Permanent Offense* and *Brumsickle*, the courts emphasized the particular importance of the FCPA's disclosure rules in the context of initiatives, where voters essentially act as legislatures and need to know who

is attempting to affect their vote. Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. at 284;

Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1008. The Brumsickle court held that disclosure of

this information to the electorate is "vital to the efficient functioning of the

marketplace of ideas, and thus to advancing the democratic objectives

underlying the First Amendment." Brumsickle, 624 F.3d at 1005. And just

last month, this Court applied the exacting scrutiny standard to reaffirm the

"vital role" that the FCPA serves in advancing the important government

interest in informing the public about the influence of money behind ballot

measures. State v. Evergreen Freedom Found., 432 P.3d 805, 814-15

(Wash. Jan 10, 2019).

FDA provides no factual or legal ground for revisiting well-

established case law upholding the constitutionality of the FCPA's

requirements. FDA's purported constitutional justification for its Petition

has no basis in fact or law.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny

FDA's Petition for Review.